THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS NOV 24 2014

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

O. Davie Burgdorf, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2013-001505

In re: Estate of Atn Burns Livingston.

Emma Lou Livingston Martin as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Atn Burns Livingston and
Emma Lou Livingston Martin,.....Respondents,

v.

Clyde B. Livingston; Miller Communications, Inc.; Citibank
South Dakota, N.A.; Branch Banking and Trust Company
of South Carolina; and American First Federal, Inc.; Defendants,

Of whom Clyde B. Livingston is.....Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. **Did the Court of Appeals err in determining that the USDA payments were property of the Petitioner's father's estate and that the Petitioner is liable to the estate for having received them?**

- II. **If that decision was not error, did the Court of Appeals err in then determining that the Respondent's right to sue for those payments was not barred by the statute of limitations?**

- III. **If that decision was not error, did the Court of Appeals err in then determining that the master-in-equity's decision to offset the judgment against the Petitioner by his right to inherit from the estate as his father's devisee was error?**

- IV. **Did the Court of Appeals err in determining that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25 does not apply to this case?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action concerns rural land in the vicinity of the town of North, South Carolina, that was owned by Atn Burns Livingston, who died in 1999 and was the father of Respondent (hereinafter “Emma”) and Petitioner (hereinafter “Clyde”). (App. p. 169.) After Atn Livingston died, Emma and Clyde were appointed as the co-personal representatives of his estate (hereinafter “the Estate”). (App. p. 169.) Emma and Clyde are the sole and equal devisees of their father and, thus, the only two owners of the land at issue in this case. (App. p. 172.)

In the year 2000, Clyde applied for farm operator status for the land subject of this case with the United States Department of Agriculture and was from then until 2008 paid \$29,902.00 in USDA subsidy payments as a farm operator. (App. p. 169.) The payments were made to Clyde as the farm operator or producer under the contract with the USDA. (App. p. 321.) Neither the USDA nor Clyde contracted for the payments to be made to the Estate. (App. pp. 321, 349-75, 405-32.)

The probate court removed Clyde as co-personal representative of the estate, on the grounds that he and Emma could not cooperate as co-personal representatives, on January 18, 2002. (App. pp. 169-72, 380-81.) From then until the present day, Emma has been the sole personal representative of the Estate. (App. p. 170.)

This case, filed on May 30, 2006, is primarily a partition action by Emma against Clyde and others, but it includes a number of non-partition claims as well. (App. pp. 184-209.) The other parties are named because of judgment liens they have or may claim against Clyde. (App. pp. 169, 172, 185-89.)

The case was filed in the Orangeburg County Probate Court and was removed to the Court of Common Pleas by order of Probate Judge Pandora Jones-Glover filed April 12, 2007. (App. pp. 174-76.) The case was referred on August 19, 2008, to the Honorable O. Davie Burgdorf, Master-in-Equity for Orangeburg County, by the consent of all non-defaulting parties. (App. pp. 178-83.)

On January 21, 2009, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25, Clyde served notice of his interest in purchasing the property subject of this case. (App. p. 402.) Two days later, Emma served a motion “for an Order denying the Defendant, Clyde B. Livingston, of any right to purchase the real property being the subject matter of this action pursuant to the rights granted to a ‘non-petitioning joint tenant’ by S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25[.]” (App. p. 215.) This motion was heard on February 11, 2009. (App. p. 249 ln. 1 through p. 274 ln. 7.)

Through a written order filed June 8, 2009¹, the master denied Emma’s motion and ruled on several other matters, including Clyde’s motion for a scheduling order. (App. pp. 157-64.) Because “this action presents numerous issues in which the various parties have varying degrees of interest and involvement[.]” the master trifurcated the action, providing for separate trials of “1) the non-partition and non-lien issues between [Emma] and [Clyde] (i.e., the issues between [Emma] and [Clyde] other than issues in which the Court must decide whether a lien exists upon the real property subject of this action and claims in which the Court must decide the extent, duration, or priority of a claimed lien upon the real property subject of this action), 2) the issues in this action that concern the validity, priority, extent, and

¹ The clerk of court’s office incorrectly clock-stamped the order with the date July 8, 2009, which seems to have been just a simple mistake in setting the clock-stamp machine. (App. p. 157.)

amount of the alleged liens (or other disputed property interests), and 3) the issues as to the disposition of the real property in this action or the disposition of the funds paid into the Court in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25.” (App. pp. 160-61, 162-64.) Emma served a motion to reconsider the ruling on her motion to deny Clyde his rights under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25. (App. pp. 221-25.) This appeal arises from the denial of Emma’s motion and the master’s denial of the motion to reconsider, as well as his decision following the bench trial he held on March 24, 2010, of the non-partition and non-lien claims between Emma and Clyde. (App. pp. 165-68.)

The claims in this action that fell into the appropriate category to be tried on March 24, 2010, were Emma’s claim for recovery on two notes given by Clyde and Emma’s claim that Clyde had misappropriated estate property by receiving \$29,902.00 in USDA subsidy payments as a farm operator with regard to the real property subject of this action. (App. p. 169.) Before the commencement of the trial, Emma withdrew the claims on the notes. (App. p. 169, p. 278 ln. 16-21.) The master then heard Clyde’s previously served and filed motion for summary judgment on Emma’s remaining claim against him concerning the USDA payments, but the master deferred ruling on that motion until after hearing the evidence at trial. (App. pp. 169, 172-73, 226-246, p. 278 ln. 1, 4-9, p. 282 ln. 18-25, p. 283 ln. 1 through p. 293 ln. 10.)

The claim of alleged misappropriation of USDA payments was the sole subject of the trial. (App. p. 169.) Emma testified and introduced USDA records and

a summary of the benefit amounts paid as exhibits, then rested her case. (App. p. 293 ln. 12 through p. 314 ln. 14.)

Emma testified that in April of 2002 – after she had become the sole personal representative of the estate – she received a letter from the USDA about Clyde being a farm operator with regard to the land at issue and “that was the first [she] knew about it that farm service agency type payments [were] involved at all.” (App. p. 170, p. 296 ln. 9-12, 16-19.) She testified that she “asked around in the community what that could possibly mean” and then contacted the USDA and inquired with that agency about Clyde’s status as a farm operator of the land. (App. p. 170, p. 296 ln. 24 through p. 297 ln. 1-5.) According to her testimony, that was when the USDA’s Orangeburg Farm Services Agency office informed her that Clyde was and had been receiving the farm subsidy payments. (App. p. 170, p. 297 ln. 4-7.) Emma testified that she got “some copies and things from them at that time.” (App. p. 297 ln. 7-8.)

In connection with being the personal representative of the estate, Emma was represented by an attorney at the time she said she discovered Clyde had been receiving farm subsidy payments. (App. p. 170, p. 297 ln. 9-11, p. 309 ln. 15-17.) She brought the information about Clyde receiving the USDA payments to her lawyer’s attention and talked with her lawyer about “how should that be handled and how should we proceed.” (App. p. 170, p. 297 ln. 9-13.) Her attorney began a dialogue about the payments with the lawyer who represented Clyde at the time. (App. p. 297 ln. 13-24.) Despite the fact that in April of 2002 Emma knew about Clyde receiving the USDA payments and even engaged an attorney to address the situation, she did not bring suit (this action) on the claim concerning the USDA

payments until May 30, 2006, over four years later. (App. pp. 170, 184-193, p. 296 ln. 9-12, 16-19, 24, 25, p. 297 ln. 1-24.)

On behalf of the estate, Emma applied for farm subsidy payments in 2008 and has received them since. (App. p. 170, p. 293 ln. 4-5.) No evidence was offered to the effect that she was prevented from making that application at any time. (App. p. 293 ln. 11 through p. 314 ln. 14.)

Clyde testified that he and Emma had agreed that he would rent the land from her on the same terms as the previous tenant had rented the land from the decedent. (App. p. 170, p. 317 ln. 13-24, p. 319 ln. 8-12, 19-25, p. 321 ln. 6-8.) He testified that the decedent's tenant had been a farm operator of the land and had collected the USDA farm subsidy benefits himself. (App. p. 170, p. 324 ln. 4-11.)

All the testimony and USDA documents admitted at the trial were to the effect that the USDA paid Clyde the farm subsidy payments because he had a contract with the USDA's Commodity Credit Corporation under which the USDA was obligated to make the payments to him by virtue of Clyde's status as a producer/farm operator. (App. p. 293 ln. 11 through p. 314 ln. 14, p. 317 ln. 10 through p. 324 ln. 12, p. 324 ln. 24 through p. 325 ln. 24, pp. 349-75.) The estate had no contract with the USDA until 2008, and it was not a party to the USDA's contract with Clyde. (App. p. 14, p. 157 ln. 4-5.) As Clyde testified on cross-examination, the USDA payments "were not estate funds. They were paid to a farm operator. Me." (App. p. 321 ln. 22-23.)

Clyde moved for an involuntary nonsuit on the grounds that the USDA payments were not property of the estate and that the statute of limitations in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 would bar the claim in any event. (App. p. 170, p. 314 ln. 15

through p. 317 ln. 4.) The master deferred ruling on this motion and requested that Clyde present his case. (App. p. 170, p. 317 ln. 5.) Clyde testified, and Emma was again called as a reply witness. (App. p. 317 ln. 10 through p. 325 ln. 24.) Counsel and the master discussed some of the issues, and the master requested that counsel for both Emma and Clyde submit proposed orders. (App. p. 326 ln. 6 through p. 340 ln. 5.)

In an order filed November 17, 2010, the master granted Clyde's motions for summary judgment and involuntary nonsuit in part and denied them in part. (App. pp. 172-73.) The master concluded that the USDA payments were part of the Estate and found Clyde liable for receiving them; however, he limited Emma's recovery to \$11,690.00. (App. pp. 171, 172.) The master concluded that "[t]he statute of limitations limits the plaintiff's recovery, on behalf of the estate, to the USDA payments that were made within three years before this action was commenced[.]" noting that "[f]rom 2003 forward, [Clyde] was paid \$23,380.00 in farm subsidy benefits. Accordingly, the recoverable portion of [Emma]'s claim concerns this \$23,380.00." (App. p. 171.) The master also concluded that, since Clyde is the devisee entitled to one half of the estate, Emma's recovery had to be further reduced by half because of the impact of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-619, the executor de son tort statute, which "provides that recovery by an estate is limited by the principle that the tortfeasor is entitled to an offset for the amount he is or was supposed to receive from the estate of the property that has come into his possession." (App. pp. 171-72.) The master denied Emma's request for prejudgment interest because she did not plead that prejudgment interest should be awarded. (App. p. 172.)

The master ordered Clyde to pay \$11,690.00 to the Estate of Atn Burns Livingston within 30 days of his counsel's receipt of a clocked copy of the order, ruling that, if Clyde did not do so, the order would constitute a judgment against him and in favor of the estate in the amount of \$11,690.00. (App. p. 173.) The master made no ruling as to the nature of the cause of action that was tried or whether it was legal or equitable. (App. pp. 168-73.) Clyde and Emma both appealed.

The Court of Appeals affirmed as to all issues raised by Clyde and reversed as to two issues raised by Emma. (App. pp. 2, 4, 7, 9, 11.) The Court of Appeals published its opinion. Estate of Livingston v. Livingston, 404 S.C. 137, 744 S.E.2d 203 (Ct. App. 2013). The Court of Appeals concluded that the USDA payments were part of the land and that the Estate was entitled to them, reasoning that “[b]ecause Emma retained the authority over the estate as the PR, the property did not pass to Clyde despite his status as a named heir in the will.” (App. pp. 4, 7.) The Court of Appeals also held that the statute of limitations did not bar Emma's claim, as Clyde had argued it did, and further held that the master should not have offset the award against Clyde. (App. pp. 7-9, 11.) The Court of Appeals also held that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25 was not applicable to the instant partition action because this action was initiated pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-911 of the Probate Code. (App. pp. 9-11.)

Clyde petitioned for rehearing or rehearing *en banc*. (App. pp. 13-23.) The Court of Appeals requested a return by Emma to the petition, which she submitted. (App. pp. 24-31.) Clyde replied to that return. (App. pp. 32-37.) The Court of Appeals denied the petition by summary order. (App. pp. 38-40.)

Clyde petitioned this Court to grant a writ of certiorari in this case, presenting the questions noted in the statement of issues at the beginning of this brief. (Petition for Writ of Certiorari.) Emma served a return opposing the petition. (Memorandum in Opposition to Petition for Writ of Certiorari.) Clyde served a reply to that return. (Reply to Respondent's Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari.)

This Court granted Clyde's petition, stating that the grant is "to review the Court of Appeals' decision in Estate of Livingston v. Livingston, 404 S.C. 137, 744 S.E.2d 203 (Ct. App. 2013)." (Order Granting Certiorari.) As the Court did not specify that the petition was granted as to some of the questions presented but not others, this brief is directed to each of the questions presented in the petition.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews all questions of law *de novo*. Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772-73 (2010) ("appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court"). It is the standard for review of the trial court's factual findings, not its legal conclusions, that depends on whether the underlying action is at law or in equity. Fesmire v. Digh, 385 S.C. 296, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009). "Statutory interpretation is a question of law subject to *de novo* review." Transportation Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2010). "The determination of legislative intent is a matter of law." City of Myrtle Beach v. Juel P. Corp., 344 S.C. 43, 543 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2001).

Summary judgment should be granted when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. E.g.,

Shelton v. LS&K, Inc., 374 S.C. 294, 297, 648 S.E.2d 307 (Ct. App. 2007). In reviewing the record, the Court views all the properly cognizable evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 67-68, 580 S.E.2d 433 (2003); Shelton, 374 S.C. at 297. Where the nonmoving party bears the burden of proof on a claim in the case, it must provide the Court with evidence showing that there is a genuine issue of material fact with regard to each of the elements of its claim. Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C., 374 S.C. 352, 358, 650 S.E.2d 68 (2007). Rule 56, SCRPC, “mandates the entry of summary judgment . . . against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to the party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof.” Id. at 357 (internal quotation marks omitted, ellipsis in original). “[A] complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party’s case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.” Baughman v. AT&T, 306 S.C. 101, 116, 410 S.E.2d 537, 546 (1991).

Though there is not much case law concerning the appellate standard of review on appeal from the grant of a motion for involuntary nonsuit, it appears that the appellate court applies the same standard as does the trial court, much the same as with review of decisions on motions for a directed verdict, J.N.O.V., or summary judgment. See Johnson v. J.P. Stevens & Co., Inc., 308 S.C. 116, 118, 417 S.E.2d 527 529 (1992) (seeming to apply this analysis, without discussion of standard); Ex parte USAA: Smith v. Moore, 365 S.C. 50, 614 S.E.2d 652, 653 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[b]ecause a dismissal [under Rule 41(b)] has the same effect as summary judgment, the standard for summary judgment applies”).

“In an action at law tried without a jury, the trial judge’s findings have the force and effect of a jury verdict upon the issues and are conclusive on appeal when supported by competent evidence.” Mathis v. Brown & Brown of S.C., Inc., 389 S.C. 299, 307, 698 S.E.2d 773, 777 (2010). Accordingly, in an appeal from the results of a bench trial of an action at law, an appellate court can correct errors of law but “will not disturb the trial court’s findings of fact unless no evidence reasonably supports the findings.” Branche Builders, Inc. v. Coggins, 386 S.C. 43, 47, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 (Ct. App. 2009). In an appeal from a judge’s decision in an equitable action, the appellate court is free to find the facts according to its own view of the preponderance of evidence. Zimmerman v. Marsh, 365 S.C. 383, 618 S.E.2d 898, 900 (2005); Johnson v. Arbabi, 355 S.C. 64, 584 S.E.2d 113, 115 (2003); Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976); SunTrust v. Bryant, 392 S.C. 264, 267, 708 S.E.2d 821, 822-23 (Ct. App. 2011).

ARGUMENT

Basically, what happened in this case is that Clyde inherited a half interest in farmland from his father and then contracted with the USDA to be paid subsidy benefits for operating a farm on that land. For Clyde receiving the money that the USDA contracted to pay him, his sister, who also happens to be the personal representative of their father’s estate, sued him. (She also sued him for partition and on other claims, as noted above.) Despite there being no provision in any agreement between Clyde and the USDA for Clyde’s father’s estate to get paid any of the benefits, the master-in-equity ordered Clyde to pay the Estate \$11,690.00, half of the money that the USDA paid him under the contract for farm operation.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals effectively doubled the amount Clyde was ordered to pay the estate, finding that the master should not have offset the amount by Clyde's right to inherit and remanding the case. The Court of Appeals also reversed the master's finding that Clyde has a right to purchase the property under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25 (which specifically states that it applies to partition actions among heirs and devisees and nowhere says it excludes partition actions under the Probate Code), ruling that the statute did not apply to this case because the partition claim was brought pursuant to the Probate Code.

Reasons that this Court's reversal of the Court of Appeals' decision is proper and needed may be summarized as follows:

- a) The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is the first and only reported opinion of any South Carolina appellate court that has decided any issue under or otherwise discusses S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25, a statute that took effect on May 25, 2006, and that alters the procedure for the disposition of partition actions. By its terms, this statute created new rights and can operate to affect the substantive outcome of partition cases. The Court of Appeals' interpretation of this statute and its decision that the statute does not apply in this case contravenes the plain terms of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25 as well as long-established principles of statutory construction. Rather than effectuating the intent of the General Assembly, the Court of Appeals' decision frustrates it.
- b) The South Carolina Probate Code explicitly provides in S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-101 that, upon a decedent's death, title to his realty passes

immediately to the decedent's heirs or devisees. This is entirely consistent with precedent of this Court, which held the same thing, that predates the adoption of the Probate Code. This has long been settled law, or at least it was until the Court of Appeals issued its opinion in this case. The Court of Appeals decided that title to the land at issue in this case passed at Atn Livingston's death to Emma as personal representative of his estate instead of to his devisees, Emma (individually) and Clyde. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is in direct conflict with controlling statutory law and this Court's precedent.

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