RECEIVED

DEC 29 2014

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In: The Supreme Court

S.C. Supreme Court

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable O. Davie Burgdorf, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2013-001505

In Re: Estate of Atri Burns Livingston

Emma Lou Livingston Martin as Personal Representative of the Estate of Atri Burns
Livingston and Emma Lou Livingston Martin, Respondents

v
Clyde B. Livingston, Miller Communications, Inc., Citibank South Dakota, N.A., Branch
Banking and Trust Company of South Carolina, and American First Federal, Inc.
Defendants, of whom Clyde B. Livingston is Petitioner

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF AN ESTATE USURPS THE RIGHTS OF AN HEIR REGARDING THE CONTROL OF THE REAL PROPERTY WHILE THE ESATE IS BEING ADMINISTERED.

Section 62-3-711, South Carolina Code, describes the powers of a Personal Representative. In general, “Until termination of his appointment...a personal representative has the same power over the title to property of the estate that an absolute owner would have, in trust however, for the benefit of the creditors and others interested in the estate.” S. C. Code Ann. §62-3-711(A).

This Section contains an exception, which states that a Personal Representative may not sell real property of the estate except as authorized pursuant to S. C. Code §62-3-1301, et seq. *See S. C. Code §62-3-711(B)*. Further, subsection (C) states: “If the will of a decedent devises real property to a personal representative or authorizes a personal

representative to sell real property, (...), then subject to Section 62-3-713, the personal representative, acting in trust for the benefit of the creditors and others interested in the estate, may execute a deed in favor of a purchaser for value, who takes title to the real property in accordance with the provisions of Section 62-3-910(B).” *See S. C. Code §62-3-711(C)*.

The Will of Atn B. Livingston does not authorize the Personal Representative to sell real property. However, Decedent left the property to Petitioner and Respondent, in equal, undivided shares. (App. p. 393). Therefore, Respondent, as Personal Representative, under subsection (C) is authorized to sell the real property at issue, in accordance with the provisions of Section 62-3-910(B), South Carolina Code. Respondent concedes that she must obtain a Court Order to sell the real estate, and must comply with S. C. Code Ann. §62-3-1301, et seq., as well. Further, Respondent, as Personal Representative, has followed the required path in her effort to sell the property in Order to administer the Estate.

Currently, the Estate owes Personal Representative fees, attorney fees, administrative expenses, and property taxes, in addition to a 2006 Note and Mortgage in the amount of \$19,675.26, secured by the subject real estate. This Note was necessary to obtain some liquidity to pay just debts and administration expenses of the Estate. (App. pp. 330-331).

Section 62-3-910(B) authorizes a Personal Representative to sell real property to a purchaser for value, who in turn receives a deed from the Personal Representative, taking title to the real property free of rights of any heirs or devisees or other interested person

in the estate and incurs no personal liability to the estate or to any heir or devisee or other interested person in the estate. *See §62-3-910(B), South Carolina Code.*

These code sections describe the authority with which a Personal Representative may sell Estate real property. Explicitly, the power to sell, mortgage, or lease real property of the estate is expressly enumerated in §62-3-715(21), South Carolina Code.

In this action, Respondent as Personal Representative, attempted to comply with §62-3-1301, et seq., in filing a petition for sale and partition of the real estate in the Probate Court. Her pleadings reflect this intent. (App. pp.184—193). Respondent, as Personal Representative, had statutory authority, pursuant to the multiple code sections cited above, to seek Court approval for the partition sale of real estate, for the just and effective administration of the Estate.

Respondent, as Personal Representative, has full authority and a legal duty to administer the Estate, pursuant to the South Carolina Probate Code. The trial court erred in allowing Respondent to use S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25, to thwart Respondent, as Personal Representative, in the exercise of her duties. The Estate owes just debts in an amount exceeding \$20,000. This amount will continue to grow until the Estate can be closed, and the assets therein distributed according to the Will of Atn B. Livingston.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded, “[W]hen a PR asserts his or her authority over the property, the PR usurps the rights of the heirs regarding the control of the real property while the estate is still being administered.” *Estate of Livingston v. Livingston*, 404 S.C. 137, 744 S.E.2d 203 (Ct. App. 2013) (App. p. 7). As Respondent requires access to the assets of the Estate in order to settle claims and pay expenses, her access to the real estate takes precedence over any claims of Petitioner.

Neither Petitioner nor Respondent own the land free and clear until after the Deed of Distribution is issued and the Estate administration is concluded. This is hardly a novel issue as asserted by the Petitioner, and is rather the natural extension of the administrative provisions of the Probate Code. The Court of Appeals did not err in uniformly applying the Probate Code in this matter.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY APPLIED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Petitioner argues the USDA benefits are not estate property because they were a product of a contract between himself and the USDA based on his status as a farm operator. Central to Petitioner's argument is his assertion that he is a cotenant entitled to possession of the whole parcel at the moment of his father's death, independent of any administrative needs or expenses of the Estate. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded, "Notwithstanding the immediate passage of title to heirs and devisees, the PR (Personal Representative) is entitled to possession of all real property during administration and has broad powers over real property during administration." S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-709 (2009); S.C. Code Ann. §62-1-201(33) (2009). This is a correct statement of South Carolina law, entirely consistent with the Probate Code, and with the typical process of administration utilized in Probate Courts across the state.

Petitioner initially, in 2000, contracted with the USDA in his capacity as Personal Representative of the Estate. As co-representative, Petitioner and Respondent were required to concur "on all acts connected with the administration...of the estate." S.C. Code of Laws, §62-3-717. Further, the USDA continued to list the owner of the real

estate as A. B. Livingston, acknowledging the Estate was still pending and title had not yet formally passed to the heirs. (App. pp. 407—432).

Despite having been formally removed as Co-Personal Representative, in 2002, Petitioner continued to sign as “Estate of A. B. Livingston” as recently as 2006. (App. p. 427). The funds received by Petitioner were properly payable to the Estate, as the real estate had not yet passed to Petitioner, despite his status as a named heir in the will. Therefore, Petitioner had no standing to enter into the USDA contract, and in fact did so only under the misrepresentation of his authority as signatory for the Estate. Each application signature, recurring each year, again confirmed Petitioner’s understanding that the Estate administration took precedence over whatever interest Petitioner might claim.

The Court of Appeals properly determined the statute of limitations was not a complete bar on the Estate’s claim to possession of the USDA benefits. Construing each application with the USDA as a separate renewal, the Court of Appeals correctly permitted the Estate to recover for the three years preceding the filing of the action, excluding those years more remote. *See Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 468 S.E.2d 645 (1996); *See also §15-3-350, S.C. Code of Laws, as amended.*

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THE PROBATE CODE IS APPLICABLE TO A PARTITION ACTION BROUGHT IN THE PROBATE COURT.

This action originated in Probate Court, to recover the USDA payments improperly made to Petitioner, individually, and to partition the real estate included within the estate. The case was removed to Circuit Court upon Respondent’s Motion for removal, pursuant to §62-1-302(d). (App. pp.174—177).

In an action removed to Circuit Court pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §62-1-302, which remains an action governed by the Probate Code, the Probate Code continues to apply. *See Waddell v. Kahdy*, 309 S.C. 1, 419 S.E.2d 783 (1992)(rehearing denied).

Section 15-61-50, S.C. Code of Laws, states: “The Court of Common Pleas has jurisdiction in all cases of real and personal estates held in joint tenancy or in common to make partition in kind or by allotment to one or more of the parties upon their accounting to the other parties in interest for their respective shares or, in case partition in kind or by allotment cannot be fairly and impartially made and without injury to any of the parties in interest, by the sale of the property and the division of the proceeds according to the rights of the parties.”

This statute provides the Circuit Court with jurisdiction to hear a partition action, requiring that the division of partition sale proceeds be distributed according to the rights of the parties. However, in this case, under the terms of the Will, and the South Carolina Probate Code, the rights of each party as heirs-at-law of decedent’s estate are tempered by the superseding necessity of soundly administering the Estate of Atn B. Livingston. It is the express purpose of the Probate Code to expedite the settling of decedent’s assets, and to promote efficiency in making distributions. *See S. C. Code Ann. §62-1-102*. To that end, a Personal Representative is additionally tasked with a particular order of priority, within which she must attend to the expenses and claims presented in the administration of the Estate. *See S. C. Code Ann. §62-3-805*.

Misapplying S.C. Code §15-61-25 for partition of estate lands during the administration of the estate, the trial court granted Petitioner the right of first refusal whereby he may “buy-out” whatever interest his sister may obtain in the real estate held

by the Estate at its closing. The trial court disregarded the effects of this action on the administration of the Estate. (App. pp. 157—164). This is prohibitively inefficient in practice, and patently inequitable in effect.

This conflict between the sound administration of the Probate Estate under the Probate Code, and the partition of the real property held by the estate by statute must be resolved in favor of the Estate's administration. Under the applicable Probate Code, partition sales must be conducted in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-1301, et seq., exclusively. Any other procedure for partition is inapplicable to this matter, filed in 2006.

A. Section 15-61-25 Does Not Apply to Property Held by An Estate

Section 15-61-25 only applies to property owned by “joint tenants or tenants in common.” Prior to the closing of the Estate of Atn B. Livingston, and the issuance of a Deed of Distribution, Petitioner and Respondent are neither joint tenants nor tenants in common. Each party is an heir-at-law and beneficiary of the Estate of Atn B. Livingston, subject to the divestiture that may become necessary during the sound administration. *See S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-101*. Without first completing the administration of the Estate, it is unknown what portion of the real estate within the Estate will actually be formally distributed to either heir. While title to the property is not “up in the air,” it is currently held by Respondent, as Personal Representative, in trust for the beneficiaries of the Estate, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-711(a), subject to divestiture.

Petitioner and Respondent are not “joint tenants or tenants in common” for purposes of §15-61-25, and therefore the right of first refusal provisions contained therein are inapplicable to this case.

B. Section 15-61-25 is Inequitable as Applied in this Case

Petitioner asserts that he is entitled to purchase Respondent's one-half undivided interest in the subject property, pursuant to the statutory guidelines of S. C. Code §15-61-25. As Petitioner contends he is already vested with his own one-half undivided interest, he posits that he need only compensate the Estate for the value of the remaining one-half interest. (App. pp. 256—258). According to Respondent, the Estate should handle all administrative expenses, including just debts, attorney fees, and compensation for the Personal Representative, pursuant to S.C. Code §62-3-719, from the proceeds of the partition sale.

This arrangement would leave Petitioner with possession of his own one-half undivided interest, Respondent's one-half undivided interest, and the right to inherit one-half of the remaining assets of the Estate after the closing of the Estate. Respondent, who has dutifully served as Personal Representative, and brought the partition action to fulfill that obligation, will end up losing possession of her one-half undivided interest to the buy-out, will be denied the equal opportunity to buy-out Petitioner's portion, and will be charged as Personal Representative with the responsibility to use the remaining estate assets to settle the estate, including paying medical expenses, administrative fees, and just debts, all prior to receiving her portion of the estate assets. Respondent, as Heir-at-Law, will be penalized for attempting to settle the Estate pursuant to the South Carolina Probate Code, and for acting as Personal Representative of the Estate.

The inequity inherent to this application is obvious and severe. Pursuant to the South Carolina Probate Code, Respondent, as Personal Representative, is the only party authorized to seek partition of the property. In fulfilling this statutory requirement,

Respondent, as heir-at-law and Personal Representative, receives less than Petitioner from the estate, and is then forbidden the right of first refusal described within S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25.

Petitioner would receive a windfall should the Court allow S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25 to apply to this distinctly Probate matter. This windfall is inequitable, and would penalize Respondent for properly serving as Personal Representative. As Personal Representative, charged with the duty to administer the estate, and being the only party with the ability to bring a Petition for Sale in Aid of Assets, Respondent as heir-at-law is systematically and unjustly denied the rights available to other non-Personal Representative heirs of the open estate. Not only is Respondent denied access to the “buy-out” provisions of S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25, but she also forced to carry the entire burden of administering the estate, while Petitioner takes his share without consideration for the expenses associated with administering an estate, including attorney’s fees, appraisals, court fees, and just debts.

A partition action brought by a Personal Representative pursuant to §62-3-911, Code of Laws of South Carolina, is governed exclusively by the rules and regulations described within the Probate Code. As this action was filed in 2006, extending the application of S.C. Code §15-61-25 to this instance violates the substance of the Probate Code.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded when an action remains primarily an action governed by the probate code, the probate code continues to apply, even after removal to the master. *See Waddell v. Kahdy*, 309 S.C. 1, 4, 419 S.E.2d 783, 785 (1992). “Furthermore, because a partition statute is provided in the probate code, the master

should have relied upon that statute in addressing the partition issue.” *Estate of Livingston v. Livingston*, 404 S.C. 137, 744 S.E.2d 203 (Ct. App. 2013), citing *Capco of Summerville, Inc. v. J. H. Gayle Constr. Co.*, 368 S.C. 137, 142, 628 S.E.2d 38, 41 (2006). In this matter, the only partition process to be considered or employed is that process described within the South Carolina Probate Code. The Court of Appeals did not err in so finding.

IV. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT ERR IN CONCLUDING AN HEIR-AT-LAW IS NOT ENTITLED TO RETAIN FUNDS IN A SHARE PROPORTIONATE WITH HIS INTEREST IN AN ESTATE, WHEN THOSE FUNDS ARE GARNERED THROUGH IMPROPER MEANS WITHOUT FIRST ALLOWING THE ESTATE TO PAY DEBTS OR CLAIMS AGAINST THE ESTATE.

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